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|| this complaint, the Commission seeks emergency relief against the Defendgilts,

including a temporary restraining order, an asset freeze, accountings, an order
expediting discovery, and an order prohibiting the destruction of documents, as
well as preliminary and permanent injunctions, disgorgement with prejudgment
interest, and civil penalties.

DEFENDANTS

10. Innova Energy LLC was incorporated in Nevada on May 8, 2008.

Clement Ejedawe is listed as its managing member. Innova is not registered with
the Commission in any capacity. Since 2008, Innova Energy has been operating
out of a leased office in Los Angeles, California.

11. Innova Leasing and Management L LC was incorporated in Nevada on

December 20, 2006. Clement Ejedawe is listed as its Manager. Innova Leasing is
not registered with the Commission in any capacity. Innova Leasing’s website
indicates that its corporate headquarters are in Houston, Texas, but it has actually
been operating out of a leased office in Los Angeles, California.

12. Clement Ejedawe, a/k/a Clement Chad, age 51, is believed to be a

Nigerian national. For the last several years he has been residing in Westchester,
California, where he has been operating Innova and other oil and gas ventures.
Ejedawe is the managing director of Innova. Ejedawe has never been registered
with any broker-dealers or investment advisers.

THE FRAUDULENT OFFERING
A. Overview And Structure Of The Investment Program

13.  Ejedawe began offering Innova securities out of a boiler room in Los
Angeles, California in approximately December 2006. Initially, Ejedawe
incorporated Innova in Nevada and opened two accounts with Wells Fargo Bank in
Innova’s name, into which Innova deposited investor funds. Ejedawe and Tnnova’s
sales agents tell investors that they are purchasing interests in either an entity

called Bluff Creek Prospect or an entity known as the Innova Leasing Joint
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Venture. The Bluff Creek Prospect investors are sold purported working irﬁerests
in o0il and gas leases. The Innova Leasing Joint Venture investors are sold interests
in oil and gas drilling equipment. All investor funds for both entities are pooled
into Innova’s Wells Fargo bank accounts.

14. The Defendants promise investors a return between $4,000 and $5,000

per month on an investment of $50,000. Ejedawe provides investors with a private

placement memorandum and glossy sales brochures. The only individual identified in

the materials is Ejedawe, who touts his purported “twenty-five years in the drilling
industry” experience in both the offering materials and in conversations with
investors. None of the offering materials that are provided to prospective investors
include financial statements. The offerings are not registered with the Commission in
any capacity.

15.  The Bluff Creek sales materials have included two unsigned letters
dated June 15, 2006 and July 16, 2006 from a petroleum engineer. The first letter,
addressed to an Innova representative, purported to analyze the number of “Proven
Un-developed (PUD) oil and gas well locations remaining to be drilled” on
Innova’s properties in Texas. The letter identified 121 well locations with reserves
from “12,000 to 30,000 barrels per well.” The second letter estimated valuation of
Innova’s wells at about $30 million assuming a $70 per barrel price of oil. In fact,
Innova does not actually own or lease any oil or gas wells or properties in Texas.

16. Innova and Ejedawe offer and sell the Innova investments through
general solicitation efforts such as cold calling from lead lists and their internet
website, www.innovaleasing.com.
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4. The Defendants Misrepresent The Existence And N qfure Of

State Regulatory Actions Involving Ejedawe

24.  None of the offering materials inform investors that Ejedawe is the
subject of cease-and-desist orders relating to unregistered offerings of securities from
California, Alabama, Maryland, Kansas, Pennsylvania, Illinois, and Washington.

25. In spite of their knowledge of the state orders, Ejedawe and Innova
continue to offer and sell Innova’s securities. In fact, they misrepresent to inveétors
the nature of the state actions. For example, Ejedawe sent an email to an investor
on August 19, 2008 advising him that the Alabama order was the result of a
complaint from a “non-investor” about “persistent calls to his residence by our
sales people.” In a telephone conversation on October 13, 2008, an Innova sales
representative advised another investor that the California order was based on a
complaint from a “disgruntled old man.” In fact, both the California and Alabama
orders resulted from a cold call that Innova sales representatives unknowingly
made to an Alabama Securities Commission investigator.

FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF
Unregistered Offer And Sale Of Securities
Violations of Sections 5(a) and 5(c) of the Securities Act
(Against All Defendants)

26. The Commission realleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1
through 25 above.

27. The Defendants, and each of them, by engaging in the conduct
described above, directly or indirectly, made use of means or instrumentalities of
transportation or communication in interstate commerce or of the mails, to offer to
sell or to sell securities, or to carry or cause such securities to be carried through
the mails or in interstate commerce for the purpose of sale or delivery after sale.

28. No registration statement has been filed with the Commission or has

been in effect with respect to the offering alleged herein.
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29. By engaging in the conduct described above, the Defendants V;i_olated,
and unless restrained and enjoined will continue to violate, Sections 5(a) and 5(c)
of the Securities Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 77e(a) and 77¢(c).

SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF
Fraud In The Offer Or Sale Of Securities
Violations of Section 17(a) of the Securities Act
(Against All Defendants)

30. The Commission realleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1
through 25 above.

31. The Defendants, and each of them, by engaging in the conduct

described above, in the offer or sale of securities by the use of means or
instruments of transportation or communication in interstate commerce or by use

of the mails directly or indirectly:

a. with scienter, employed devices, schemes, or artifices to
defraud;
b. obtained money or property by means of untrue statements of a

material fact or by omitting to state a material fact necessary in
order to make the statements made, in light of the
circumstances under which they were made, not misleading; or

.3 engaged in transactions, practices, or courses of business which
operated or would operate as a fraud or deceit upon the
purchaser.

32. By engaging in the conduct described above, the Defendants violated,
and unless restrained and enjoined will continue to violate, Section 17(a) of the
Securities Act, 15 U.S.C. § 77q(a).
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